

CAN UNCLASSIFIED



# Assessing Education and Exercise as Solutions for Aircrew Neck-trouble

A Literature Review

Lt Benjamin Perry Capt Lisa Carnduff Canadian Forces Environmental Medicine Establishment

Philip S. E. Farrell DRDC – Toronto Research Centre

### **Defence Research and Development Canada**

Reference Document DRDC-RDDC-2018-D016 March 2018



**CAN UNCLASSIFIED** 

#### CAN UNCLASSIFIED

#### **IMPORTANT INFORMATIVE STATEMENTS**

This document was reviewed for Controlled Goods by Defence Research and Development Canada (DRDC) using the Schedule to the *Defence Production Act*.

Disclaimer: Her Majesty the Queen in right of Canada, as represented by the Minister of National Defence ("Canada"), makes no representations or warranties, express or implied, of any kind whatsoever, and assumes no liability for the accuracy, reliability, completeness, currency or usefulness of any information, product, process or material included in this document. Nothing in this document should be interpreted as an endorsement for the specific use of any tool, technique or process examined in it. Any reliance on, or use of, any information, product, process or material included in this document is at the sole risk of the person so using it or relying on it. Canada does not assume any liability in respect of any damages or losses arising out of or in connection with the use of, or reliance on, any information, product, process or material included in this document.

Endorsement statement: This publication has been published by the Editorial Office of Defence Research and Development Canada, an agency of the Department of National Defence of Canada. Inquiries can be sent to: <u>Publications.DRDC-RDDC@drdc-rddc.gc.ca</u>.

This work is a deliverable under 03aa Air Human Effectiveness Project and the Neck and Back Trouble Mitigation Solutions Work Breakdown Element.

© Her Majesty the Queen in Right of Canada (Department of National Defence), 2018

© Sa Majesté la Reine en droit du Canada (Ministère de la Défense nationale), 2018

## Abstract

Griffon Helicopter aircrew neck trouble, at a minimum, is distracting and may deteriorate flying task performance and ultimately lead to permanent grounding. To this end, Defence Research and Development Canada (DRDC) and the Canadian Forces Environmental Medicine Establishment (CFEME) have been actively engaged in proposing and assessing solutions to the neck pain problem. One such proposed solution includes adoption of a "Professional Athlete" mentality involving both education and exercise. A review of the literature is used to assess the efficacy of education in mitigating neck pain. This analysis found that education alone has shown little to no effect in preventing neck pain or injury. Exercise or manual therapy showed slightly superior results, while the use of a combination of both education and exercise/manual therapy as the most effective way to manage the neck pain problem is clearly evident. Given this to be the case, curricula have been identified that, in combination with a practicum and/or training, promise to be effective in reducing aircrew neck trouble.

## Significance to defence and security

Defence Research and Development Canada (DRDC) and the Canadian Forces Environmental Medicine Establishment (CFEME) have proposed, assessed, and provided scientific advice on 12 possible mitigating solutions, including a "Professional Athlete" mentality that involves education and exercise. In the near-term, 1 Wing plans to implement 6 of the 12 solutions, including core exercise and education. In the long-terms, this research has implications for 2 Canadian Air Division (CAD) and their responsibility for all aircrew training.

## Résumé

Les troubles cervicaux chez les membres d'équipage des hélicoptères Griffon sont, à tout le moins, une source de distraction et nuisent à l'exécution de leurs tâches en vol, mais ils peuvent, au bout du compte, les contraindre à une interdiction de vol. À cet égard, Recherche et développement pour la défense Canada (RDDC) et le Centre de médecine environnementale des Forces canadiennes (CMEFC) se sont activement engagés à proposer et à évaluer des solutions au problème de douleur cervicale. L'une de ces solutions proposées comprend l'adoption d'une mentalité « d'athlète professionnel » conjuguant l'éducation et l'exercice. Une revue de la littérature a été réalisée pour évaluer l'efficacité de l'éducation dans l'atténuation des douleurs cervicales. Cette analyse a révélé que l'éducation, utilisée seule, a peu d'effet, voire aucun effet sur la prévention de la douleur ou des blessures cervicales. L'exercice ou la massothérapie ont affiché des résultats légèrement supérieurs, alors que la combinaison de l'éducation et de l'exercice et/ou de la massothérapie s'est clairement avérée la solution la plus efficace pour prendre en charge les douleurs cervicales. Si tel est le cas, les programmes d'études combinés à un stage ou à une instruction promettent d'être efficaces pour réduire l'incidence des troubles cervicaux chez les membres d'équipage.

## Importance pour la défense et la sécurité

Recherche et développement pour la défense Canada (RDDC) et le Centre de médecine environnementale des Forces canadiennes (CMEFC) ont proposé, évalué et fourni des conseils scientifiques sur douze solutions d'atténuation possibles, y compris une solution mettant de l'avant une mentalité « d'athlète professionnel » combinant des volets d'éducation et d'exercices. À court terme, la 1<sup>re</sup> Escadre prévoit mettre en œuvre six des douze solutions, incluant des séances d'éducation et d'exercices de stabilisation du tronc. À long terme, cette recherche aura des répercussions sur la 2<sup>e</sup> Division aérienne du Canada (2 DAC) et sa responsabilité à l'égard de l'instruction de tous les membres d'équipage.

## **Table of contents**

Abstract	i							
Significance to defence and security	i							
Résumé	ii							
Importance pour la défense et la sécurité	ii							
Table of contents	iii							
Acknowledgements	iv							
1 Introduction	1							
2 Review of the literature	2							
2.1 Education for neck pain	2							
2.2 Exercise/manual therapy for neck pain	2							
2.3 Education in combination with exercise/manual therapy for neck pain	3							
2.4 Education curricula with practical components	4							
3 Conclusion	6							
References	7							
Annex A Notional Course Curriculum for CH-146 Helicopter Aircrew.	10							
Annex B Notional Course Curriculum for General Aircrew	12							
Annex C Notional Course Curriculum for Flight Surgeons								
List of symbols/abbreviations/acronyms/initialisms								

## Acknowledgements

The authors would like to acknowledge Major Erin Smith for her initial guidance on this paper.

## 1 Introduction

Neck- and back-trouble have negatively affected helicopter aircrew since the 1960s (Delahaye et al., 1970). While the Royal Canadian Air Force (RCAF) has been actively investigating rotary-wing aircrew back pain issues since the 1980s, efforts to investigate issues related specifically to neck pain have begun only recently. In a 2004 RCAF survey, 82% of CH-146 Griffon helicopter aircrew reported neck pain (Adam, 2004). This finding was further supported in a more recent 2014 survey, where 75% of Griffon helicopter aircrew reported the same (Chafé & Farrell, 2016). Given the high prevalence of injury in Griffon aircrew, there is vested interest on behalf of the RCAF to find solutions that mitigate aircrew neck pain. DRDC, Directorate of Technical Airworthiness and Engineering Support (DTAES), and the Canadian Forces Health Services (CFHS) have been engaged in finding a solution to this problem since the early 2000s. Since 2012, the focus has been on mitigating (near-term) solutions, and the Neck- and Back-trouble Mitigating Solutions Work Breakdown Element (WBE: 03aa01) was initiated under the Air Human Effectiveness Project (03aa).

One of the initial activities for this new WBE was to propose aircrew neck pain mitigating solutions under contract (Fernie & Mayich, 2013; Fischer et al., 2013), and the proposed solutions were analysed and prioritised (Chafe, 2013). The list of proposed solutions (in order of priority) is as follows:

- 1. Revised Workload Distribution and Smart Scheduling
- 2. Helmet Fit
- 3. "Professional Athlete" Mentality: Education and Exercise
- 4. Neck-Supported Mass Study: Identify Helmet System Requirements that Mitigate Neck Pain
- 5. Helmet System Support Devices
- 6. Radar Altimeter Repeater Monitor
- 7. "See Through Floor" Capability
- 8. Seat Ergonomics

The next phase of the WBE was to assess each of the prioritised solutions for their ability to mitigate neck pain. To date, all the proposed solutions have been assessed, except for the education component of the "Professional Athlete" mentality solution. The professional athlete mentality consists of two pain mitigating strategies: education and exercise. This solution recognises that education or exercise alone might not mitigate neck pain, but that a combinatorial approach may be effective. This assessment, based on a review of the literature, aims to provide evidence for the components of the "Professional Athlete" mentality solution in mitigating neck pain. Proposed curricula aimed at reducing aircrew neck trouble are provided in the annexes.

## 2 Review of the literature

Within the context of the "Professional Athlete" mentality as a neck pain-mitigating solution, there are two requirements for success: 1) the sharing of information and 2) acting on that information. In other words, the sharing of information is considered "education," while acting on that information may include a practicum, and "exercise" may be one of several activities that aircrew undertake. The following brief review provides evidence to the effectiveness or lack thereof of education and exercise (and in combination) in mitigating neck pain. Curricula aimed at reducing aircrew neck trouble are also proposed.

## 2.1 Education for neck pain

Neck pain is a major public health problem, both in terms of the effects on quality of life and the cost of Government health care (Daffner et al., 2003). Other potential indirect costs include loss of work and future effects on employability (Borghouts, Koes, Vondeling, & Bouter, 1999; Daffner et al., 2003). According to The Bone and Joint Decade 2000 to 2010 Task Force on Neck Pain and Its Associated Disorders, referred to as the Neck Pain Task Force (NPTF), education is recommended as a useful intervention for Whiplash-Associated Disorders (WAD) (Guzman et al., 2008). In fact, patient education has become routine practice for both the management of post-injury WAD as well as Neck pain and Associated Disorders (NAD) (Gross et al., 2012; Yu et al., 2016).

Since the NPTF was published in 2008, several systematic reviews have investigated the clinical effectiveness of patient education on WAD and NAD (Gross et al., 2012; Meeus, Nijs, Hamers, Ickmans, & Van Oosterwijck, 2012; Verhagen, Scholten-Peeters, S., de Bie, & Bierma-Zeinstra, 2007). In a clinical study evaluating the best approach to managing whiplash injuries, Emergency Departments (ED) designed an educational intervention trial consisting of active management advice and the distribution of an information pamphlet (Lamb et al., 2012). The control group was provided care advice typically received in an ED. Follow-up data were collected at 2 weeks, 4 months, 8 months, and 12 months post-ED visit. No statistically- or clinically-significant differences were observed in patients who received the educational intervention. In another study involving workers' compensation recipients with first-time neck pain, the efficacy of an educational booklet on functional outcomes of neck pain was assessed (Derebery, Giang, Gatchel, Erickson, & Fogarty, 2009). At 2 weeks, 3 months, and 6 months following baseline assessments, functional measurements and pain questionnaires were completed. It was concluded that education did not improve patient outcomes. A similar neck pain patient study was conducted to assess the efficacy of education strategies on mitigating pain in acute WAD patients (Teasell et al., 2010). Again, no evidence for the benefit of education alone was noted, at both intermediate and long-term follow-up periods. Overall, representative evidence from the literature suggests that patient education alone does not mitigate neck pain and is less effective than other treatment options.

## 2.2 Exercise/manual therapy for neck pain

Recently, common treatments such as physiotherapy and massage therapy have been shown to mitigate neck pain (Salmon, Harrison, & Neary, 2011). In a trial assessing the effects of standard ED care compared to neck pain management advice (education), no differences were noted in scores on the Neck Disability Index (NDI) (Lamb et al., 2013). Physiotherapy, however, showed modest benefits compared to neck pain management advice at the 4 month follow-up period (short-term). No differences were noted at 8 (intermediate) or 12 month (long-term) follow-up periods. Physiotherapy that includes exercise and

manual therapy has also shown effectiveness in accelerating recovery and function (Hurwitz et al., 2008), as well as reducing pain (short-term) (Rushton et al., 2011) and work absenteeism (Provinciali, Baroni, Illuminati, & Ceravolo, 1996). In another study, patients with chronic neck pain were assigned to receive either massage therapy or a self-care educational booklet as an intervention (Sherman, Cherkin, Hawkes, Miglioretti, & Deyo, 2009). Follow-up telephone interviews at 4, 10, and 26 weeks post-intervention were used to assess outcomes using the NDI. Overall, massage therapy was shown to be more effective than education at the 4 week (short-term) follow-up period.

In the Swedish Air Force, supervised regular muscle strength training is believed to prevent neck pain in helicopter pilots, possibly by improving neck-flexor function post-intervention (Äng & Harms-Ringdahl, 2006). Further evidence also exists for exercise therapy as a treatment regime for neck pain in helicopter aircrew (Salmon et al., 2011). However, more specific strategies for mitigating neck pain still need to be evaluated. In line with this, the Royal Danish Air Force (RDAF) is currently developing a specifically-tailored exercise intervention to reduce the incidence and prevalence rates of neck pain in helicopter pilots and aircrew (Murray, Lange, Nørnberg, Søgaard, & Sjøgaard, 2015). The protocol would consist of 3 training sessions (20 minutes each) per week during working hours and the primary outcome would be change in neck pain. In a similar manner, the Royal Air Force has institutionalised an Aircrew Conditioning Programme (ACP) for fighter aircraft pilots, and plans are being made to roll out a similar programme for rotary-wing aircrew.

Evidence from the literature indicates that exercise/manual therapy has potential for mitigating the pain and burden associated with neck pain, at least in the short-term. Ongoing studies will help support this evidence.

## 2.3 Education in combination with exercise/manual therapy for neck pain

The review of the literature showed that education is largely ineffective at preventing neck pain, while exercise or manual therapy has the potential to mitigate neck trouble. The current rationale is that educational strategies that complement clinical practice (i.e., putting education into practice), are the most effective way to manage neck pain (Côté et al., 2016). Structured patient education in combination with range of motion exercises (physiotherapy), strengthening exercises, and massage therapy have all been investigated.

For instance, the long-term benefits of a combinatorial educational and physical program on neck pain have previously been demonstrated in a cohort of public servants (Mongini et al., 2012). Education consisted of an explanation of the program and its main purposes, with particular emphasis on pain and its origins in the cranio-facial-cervical area. The physical component of the program consisted of a relaxation and brief neck and shoulder exercises to be performed several times a day. At one-year follow up, 40% of the participants reported a reduction in neck pain, while 50% reported a reduction in analgesic drug intake. In a similar study, a physical and educational intervention consisting of relaxation and posture exercises as well as the use of visual feedback was carried out in a working community (Rota et al., 2011). The presence of symptoms was investigated by way of an interview checklist. Headaches, as well as neck and shoulder pain were also assessed by way of clinical examinations. At 6 months, the probability of the presence of any type of neck trouble symptom was lower in the study group compared to the control group. Multimodal physiotherapy, including exercise, mobilization, and expert advice following initial education has also shown to be more effective that education alone by a physiotherapist in reducing workdays lost due to injuries of the neck (Lamb et al., 2013; Lamb et al., 2012).

A combinatorial approach to mitigating neck pain that includes both education and manual therapy appears to hold promise. In order to adopt this approach in the RCAF, curricula are required. The following section outlines potential approaches to the implementation of such curricula.

### 2.4 Education curricula with practical components

Our literature review shows that education in combination with a practicum, training, or some practical experience is beneficial for reducing neck pain. To that end, and based on the assessment activities and results conducted under this project, education curricula (table of contents only) were developed for the RCAF's consideration.

The first consideration in developing a curriculum was to determine the student populations who would benefit from this training. We identified 3 groups of students who may benefit from an aircrew neck-trouble mitigation course: CH-146 Griffon Helicopter aircrew, general aircrew, and flight surgeons. Each group will have slightly different objectives. For instance, CH-146 aircrew would likely want to understand how they can reduce neck pain specifically for their platform and missions. General aircrew (i.e., new recruits) would need to understand how normal operations over the length of a career could contribute to chronic neck pain if not properly monitored. Flight surgeons would be interested in their role in preventing and treating neck pain. And so the education plan may be tailored for each group even though the course curriculum template remains the same.

The Curriculum template consists of a course aim, and the following modules:

- 1. Neck pain problem (background)
- 2. Neck pain mechanisms (causes and biomechanics)
- 3. Neck pain mitigating solutions/Flight Surgeon role in prevention and treatment
- 4. Next Steps (future research, procurement, training, etc.)
- 5. Summary

Again, the modules may be added to, edited, or deleted to fit the education plan objectives. A possible layout for module 3 for CH-146 Aircrew involves a description of solutions that mitigate the 5 primary causal factors: human factors, body-borne equipment, aircrew behaviours, aircraft workspace, and organisational factors as shown in Annex A (Farrell et al., 2017). Note that in Annex A, education modules have a practicum component listed here as follows:

- Exercise (self-paced general fitness program)
- Helmet Fit (in field working with ALSE technicians)
- Counter Weights (in field working with ALSE technicians)
- Neutral Postures (formal training and informal info-sharing)
- Smart Scheduling (self-paced scheduling wherever possible)
- Task Sharing (formal training)

Annexes B and C include possible curricula for General aircrew and Flight Surgeons, respectively. Note that in Annex B, some of the sub-modules are crossed out to show that tailoring would need to be made for general aircrew that may include the fighter pilots where, for example, task sharing is not applicable as a solution. For Flight Surgeons, the entire solutions module (module 3) is suggested to be replaced with the role flight surgeons play in preventing and treating chronic neck pain.<sup>1</sup>

Finally, Annexes A, B, and C are notional examples of how education plans flow from the proposal and assessment of solutions. Although DRDC and CFEME stand ready to contribute to the content of these (or other) curricula, other RCAF stakeholders will need to take ownership of the education and training components of neck pain mitigation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> A 50-minute lecture was given at the 2017 Flight Surgeon Course (Farrell, 2017), which was a condensed version of proposed curriculum found in Annex C.

## 3 Conclusion

A review of the existing literature on the benefits of education alone, or in combination with exercise, in mitigating neck pain has shown mixed results. The majority of clinical studies have shown little to no statistically significant differences in patients who were given information on post-injury management (education) versus those that were not. Information sharing did not reveal any significant improvements in patient outcomes. Thus, there was little benefit to giving additional information to patients post-injury as a mitigating strategy to neck pain in both the short- and long-term. Similarly, preventative education showed little to no efficacy in preventing neck pain or injury. Exercise alone has shown limited success in mitigating neck pain in patients. Manual therapy (such as physiotherapy or massage therapy) has shown modest effects in the short-term for patients with neck pain. Physiotherapy has successfully demonstrated acceleration in patient recovery and improvements in neck functionality. Massage therapy has also been shown to be an effective means of lowering neck pain in patients in the short-term. A combinatorial approach to the neck pain problem, employing both educational and manual therapy approaches, has shown potential. To that end, potential curricula are being proposed for the consideration of the RCAF.

## References

Adam, J. (2004). Results of NVG-induced neck strain questionnaire study in CH-146 Griffon aircrew (pp. 95). Toronto, Canada: Technical Report DRDC Toronto TR 2004-153 Defence R&D Canada – Toronto.

Äng, B. O., & Harms-Ringdahl, K. (2006). Neck pain and related disability in helicopter pilots: a survey of prevalence and risk factors. *Aviation, Space, and Environmental Medicine, 77*(7), 713–719.

Borghouts, J. A. J., Koes, B. W., Vondeling, H., & Bouter, L. M. (1999). Cost-of-illness of neck pain in The Netherlands in 1996. *Pain*, 80(3), 629–636.

Chafe, G. S. (2013). Evaluation of Potential Solutions to Mitigate Aircrew Neck Strain *CIMVHR contract W7714-125624/001/SV-task 14* (pp. 64). Toronto, Canada: Technical Report, DRDC Toronto TR 2013-089, Defence R&D Canada – Toronto.

Chafé, G. S., & Farrell, P. S. E. (2016). Royal Canadian Air Force CH-146 Griffon aircrew 2014 spinal musculoskeletal trouble survey: Scientific Report, DRDC-RDDC-2016-R179, Defence Research and Development Canada, Toronto, ON.

Côté, P., Wong, J. J., Sutton, D., Shearer, H. M., Mior, S., Randhawa, K., . . . Salhany, R. (2016). Management of neck pain and associated disorders: A clinical practice guideline from the Ontario Protocol for Traffic Injury Management (OPTIMa) Collaboration. *European Spine Journal*, *25*(7), 2000–2022. doi: 10.1007/s00586-016-4467-7.

Daffner, S. D., Hilibrand, A. S., Hanscom, B. S., Brislin, B. T., Vaccaro, A. R., & Albert, T. J. (2003). Impact of Neck and Arm Pain on Overall Health Status. *Spine*, *28*(17), 2030–2035.

Delahaye, R. P., Pannier, R., Seris, H., Auffret, R., Carre, R., Mangin, H., & Teyssandier, M. J. (1970). *Physiopathology and pathology of affections of the spine in aerospace medicine*. Advisory Group for Aerospace Research & Development, AGARDograph No. 140.

Derebery, J., Giang, G. M., Gatchel, R. J., Erickson, K., & Fogarty, T. W. (2009). Efficacy of a Patient-Educational Booklet for Neck-Pain Patients With Workers' Compensation: A Randomized Controlled Trial. *Spine*, *34*(2), 206–213.

Farrell, P. S. E. (2017). 1 Wing Neck Pain Mitigating Solutions: Operational Flight Surgeon Course 2017 [Lecture Presentation]. Defence Research and Development Canada Toronto Research Centre, Toronto, Canada.

Farrell, P. S. E., Chafé, G. S., Karakolis, T., Fusina, G., Hollands, J. G., & Wright-Beatty, H. (2017). Interim scientific advice for six RCAF Griffon helicopter aircrew neck-trouble mitigating solutions Scientific Letter, DRDC-RDDC-2016-L028, Defence Research and Development Canada, Toronto, ON.

Fernie, G., & Mayich, J. (2013). Mitigating Neck Pain in Aircrew *A Proposal for the Development of Near-Term Solutions* (pp. 74). Toronto, Canada: Scientific Authority: Capt. Gabrielle S. Chafe, Contract Report, DRDC Toronto CR 2013-038, Toronto Research Institute.

Fischer, S. L., Stevenson, J. M., Albert, W. J., Harrison, M. F., Bryant, T., Beach, T. A. C., ... Coffey, B. (2013). Near-Term Ideas to Address Aircrew Helmet Systems-Induced Neck Pain *Mitigating Neck Pain in Aircrew* (pp. 85). Toronto, Canada: Scientific Authority: Capt. Gabrielle S. Chafe, Contract Report, DRDC Toronto CR 2013-039, Queen's University.

Gross, A., Forget, M., George, K. S., Fraser, M., Graham, N., Perry, L., . . . Brunarski, D. (2012). Patient education for neck pain (review) *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* (Vol. 2012): The Cochrane Collaboration JohnWiley & Sons, Ltd.

Guzman, J., Haldeman, S., Carroll, L. J., Carragee, E. J., Hurwitz, E. L., Peloso, P., . . . Hogg-Johnson, S. (2008). Clinical Practice Implications of the Bone and Joint Decade 2000–2010 Task Force on Neck Pain and Its Associated Disorders: From Concepts and Findings to Recommendations. *Spine*, *33*(4S), S199–S213.

Hurwitz, E. L., Carragee, E. J., Velde, G. v. d., Carroll, L. J., Nordin, M., Guzman, J., . . . Haldeman, S. (2008). Treatment of Neck Pain: Noninvasive Interventions: Results of the Bone and Joint Decade 2000–2010 Task Force on Neck Pain and Its Associated Disorders. *Spine*, *33*(4S), S123–S152.

Lamb, S. E., Gates, S., Williams, M. A., Williamson, E. M., Mt-Isa, S., Withers, E. J., . . . Underwood, M. R. (2013). Emergency department treatments and physiotherapy for acute whiplash: a pragmatic, two-step, randomised controlled trial. *Lancet*, *381*(9866), 546–556.

Lamb, S. E., Williams, M. A., Williamson, E. M., Gates, S., Withers, E. J., Mt-Isa, S., ... Cooke, M. W. (2012). Managing Injuries of the Neck Trial (MINT): a randomised controlled trial of treatments for whiplash injuries. *Health Technology Assessment, 16*(49).

Meeus, M., Nijs, J., Hamers, V., Ickmans, K., & Van Oosterwijck, J. (2012). The Efficacy of Patient Education in Whiplash Associated Disorders: A Systematic Review. *Pain Physician*, 15(5), 351–361.

Mongini, F., Evangelista, A., Milani, C., Ferrero, L., Ciccone, G., Ugolini, A., . . . Galassi, C. (2012). An Educational and Physical Program to Reduce Headache, Neck/Shoulder Pain in a Working Community: A Cluster-Randomized Controlled Trial. *PLOS ONE*. doi: https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0029637.

Murray, M., Lange, B., Nørnberg, B. R., Søgaard, K., & Sjøgaard, G. (2015). Specific exercise training for reducing neck and shoulder pain among military helicopter pilots and crew members: a randomized controlled trial protocol. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*. doi: 10.1186/s12891-015-0655-6.

Provinciali, L., Baroni, M., Illuminati, L., & Ceravolo, M. G. (1996). Multimodal treatment to prevent the late whiplash syndrome. *Scandinavian Journal of Rehabilitation Medicine*, 28(2), 105–111.

Rota, E., Evangelista, A., Ciccone, G., Ferrero, L., Ugolini, A., Milani, C., . . . Mongini, F. (2011). Effectiveness of an educational and physical program in reducing accompanying symptoms in subjects with head and neck pain: a workplace controlled trial. *The Journal of Headache and Pain, 12*(3), 339–345. doi: http://doi.org/10.1007/s10194-011-0291-y.

Rushton, A., Wright, C., Heneghan, N., Eveleigh, G., Calvert, M., & Freemantle, N. (2011). Physiotherapy rehabilitation for whiplash associated disorder II: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. *BMJ Open*, *1*(2). doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2011-000265.

Salmon, D. M., Harrison, M. F., & Neary, J. P. (2011). Neck Pain in Military Helicopter Aircrew and the Role of Exercise Therapy. *Aviation Space and Environmental Medicine*, *82*(10), 978–987.

Sherman, K. J., Cherkin, D. C., Hawkes, R. J., Miglioretti, D. L., & Deyo, R. A. (2009). Randomized Trial of Therapeutic Massage for Chronic Neck Pain. *Clinical Journal of Pain*, *25*(3), 233–238.

Teasell, R. W., McClure, J. A., Walton, D., Pretty, J., Salter, K., Meyer, M., . . . Death, B. (2010). A research synthesis of therapeutic interventions for whiplash-associated disorder (WAD): Part 2 – interventions for acute WAD. *Pain Research and Management*, *15*(5), 295–304.

Verhagen, A. P., Scholten-Peeters, G. G. M., van Wijngaarden, S., de Bie, R., & Bierma-Zeinstra, S. M. A. (2011). Conservative treatments for whiplash (Review). *The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, 2007(2). doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD003338.pub3.

Yu, H., Côté, P., Southerst, D., Wong, J. J., Varatharajan, S., Shearer, H. M., ... Taylor-Vaisey, A. L. (2016). Does structured patient education improve the recovery and clinical outcomes of patients with neck pain? A systematic review from the Ontario Protocol for Traffic Injury Management (OPTIMa) Collaboration. *The Spine Journal*, *16*(12), 1524–1540.

## Annex A Notional Course Curriculum for CH-146 Helicopter Aircrew

#### **Course Title**

CH-146 Griffon Helicopter Aircrew Neck-trouble Mitigating Solutions

#### Aim

To equip CH-146 Griffon Helicopter Aircrew with the understanding of aircrew neck pain that may develop during normal operations over a career, and how the risk of chronic neck pain may be reduced by a variety of mitigating solutions.

#### Module 1 – The problem

- 1.1 Historic Review
- 1.2 Survey Results (2004 & 2014)
- 1.3 Possible solutions (foreshadow of solutions)

#### Module 2 – Mechanisms

- 2.1 Five Causal Factors
- 2.2 Neck 'Trouble' Definitions (maybe pain metric, and pain vs performance results)
- 2.3 Neck Pain Biomechanics

#### Module 3 – Solutions

- 3.1 Who Aircrew Are
  - 3.1.1 Education (current course)
  - 3.1.2 Exercise (self-paced General Fitness program)
- 3.2 What Aircrew Wear
  - 3.2.1 Helmet Fit (in field)
  - 3.2.2 Counter Weights (in field)
- 3.3 What Aircrew Do
  - 3.3.1 Neutral Postures (formal training, informal info-sharing)
  - 3.3.2 Smart Scheduling (self-paced scheduling)
  - 3.3.3 Task Sharing (formal training)
- 3.4 Where Aircrew Work (info only)
  - 3.4.1 G, Vibration, and Ergonomics
  - 3.4.2 Multi-Function Displays for Pilots and Flight Engineers
  - 3.4.3 Seat Ergonomics
- 3.5 Who Aircrew Belong to (info only)
  - 3.5.1 Mission Type
  - 3.5.2 Mission Length

#### Module 4 – Next Steps

- 4.1 Integrating Solutions (What Aircrew can do, What RCAF can do)
- 4.2 Longitudinal study to determine solution effectiveness

#### 4.3 Helmet Systems procurement requirements

4.4 Future Solutions

## **Module 5 – Summary** 5.1 The Problem

- 5.2 Mechanisms
- 5.3 Solutions
- 5.4 Next Steps

## Annex B Notional Course Curriculum for General Aircrew

#### **Course Title**

Aircrew Neck-trouble Mitigating Solutions

#### Aim

To equip *aircrew* with the understanding of aircrew neck pain that may develop during normal operations over a career, and how the risk of chronic neck pain may be reduced by a variety of mitigating solutions.

#### Module 1 – The problem

- 1.4 Historic Review
- 1.5 Rotary Wing and Fast Jet Survey Results (2004, 2014, & 2016)
- 1.6 Possible solutions (foreshadow of solutions)

#### Module 2 – Mechanisms

- 2.4 Five Causal Factors
- 2.5 Neck 'Trouble' Definitions (maybe pain metric, and pain vs performance results)
- 2.6 Neck Pain Biomechanics

#### Module 3 – Solutions

- 3.6 Who Aircrew Are
  - 3.6.1 Education (current course)
  - 3.6.2 Exercise (self-paced General Fitness program)
- 3.7 What Aircrew Wear
  - 3.7.1 Helmet Fit (in field)
  - 3.7.2 Counter Weights (in field)
- 3.8 What Aircrew Do
  - 3.8.1 Neutral Postures (formal training, informal info-sharing)
  - 3.8.2 Smart Scheduling (self-paced scheduling)
  - 3.8.3 Task Sharing (formal training)
- 3.9 Where Aircrew Work (info only)
  - 3.9.1 G, Vibration, and Ergonomics

#### 3.9.2 Multi-Function Displays for Pilots and Engineers

#### 3.9.3 Seat Ergonomics

- 3.10 Who Aircrew Belong to (info only)
  - 3.10.1 Mission Type
  - 3.10.2 Mission Length

#### Module 4 – Next Steps

- 4.5 Integrating Solutions (What Aircrew can do, What RCAF can do)
- 4.6 Longitudinal study to determine solution effectiveness
- 4.7 Helmet Systems procurement requirements
- 4.8 Future Solutions

## Module 5 – Summary5.5The Problem

- 5.6 Mechanisms
- Solutions 5.7
- Next Steps 5.8

## Annex C Notional Course Curriculum for Flight Surgeons

#### **Education Course Title**

Aircrew Neck-trouble Mitigating Solutions

#### Aim

To equip *aircrew* with the understanding of aircrew neck pain that may develop during normal operations over a career, and how the risk of chronic neck pain may be reduced by a variety of mitigating solutions.

#### Module 1 – The problem

- 1.7 Historic Review
- 1.8 Rotary Wing and Fast Jet Survey Results (2004, 2014, & 2016)
- 1.9 Possible solutions (foreshadow of solutions)

#### Module 2 – Mechanisms

- 2.7 Five Causal Factors
- 2.8 Neck 'Trouble' Definitions (maybe pain metric, and pain vs performance results)
- 2.9 Neck Pain Biomechanics

#### Module 3 – Flight Surgeon Role

- 3.11 Prevention
  - 3.11.1 Education
  - 3.11.2 Exercise
  - 3.11.3 Neutral Postures
  - 3.11.4 Smart Scheduling
  - 3.11.5 Helmet Fit
  - 3.11.6 Counter Weights (pros and cons)
  - 3.11.7 "Go No-Go decision-making"
- 3.12 Treatment

#### Module 4 – Next Steps

- 4.9 Epidemiology studies
- 4.10 Understanding neck pathology
- 4.11 Application of Pain Metric as a decision tool for Go No-Go decision metric

#### Module 5 – Summary

- 5.9 The Problem
- 5.10 Mechanisms
- 5.11 Solutions
- 5.12 Next Steps

## List of symbols/abbreviations/acronyms/initialisms

ACP	Aircrew Conditioning Programme
CAD	Canadian Air Division
CAF	Canadian Armed Forces
CFEME	Canadian Forces Environmental Medicine Establishment
CFHS	Canadian Forces Health Services
DRDC	Defence Research and Development Canada
DTAES	Directorate of Technical Airworthiness and Engineering Support
ED	Emergency Department
NAD	Neck Pain and Associated Disorders
NDI	Neck Disability Index
NPTF	Neck Pain Task Force
NSM	Neck-Supported Mass
RCAF	Royal Canadian Air Force
RDAF	Royal Danish Air Force
WAD	Whiplash-Associated Disorders
WBE	Work Breakdown Element

<b>DOCUMENT CONTROL DATA</b> *Security markings for the title, authors, abstract and keywords must be entered when the document is sensitive								
1.	ORIGINATOR (Name and address of the organization preparing the document. A DRDC Centre sponsoring a contractor's report, or tasking agency, is entered in Section 8.)			<ul> <li>SECURITY MARKING         <ul> <li>(Overall security marking of the document including special supplemental markings if applicable.)</li> </ul> </li> </ul>				
	DRDC – Toronto Research Centre Defence Research and Development Canada 1133 Sheppard Avenue West			CAN UNCL	ASSIFIED			
	P.O. Box 2000		2b. CONTROLLED GOODS					
	Toronto, Ontario M3M 3B9 Canada		NON-CONT DMC A		ROLLED GOODS			
3.	TITLE (The document title and sub-title as indicated on the title page.)							
	Assessing Education and Exercise as Solutions for Aircrew Neck-trouble: A Literature Review							
4.	AUTHORS (last name, followed by initials – ranks, titles, etc., not to be	used)						
	Benjamin, L.; Carnduff, L.; Farrell, P. S. E.							
5.	DATE OF PUBLICATION (Month and year of publication of document.)		ges, including Annexes, g DCD, covering and		6b. NO. OF REFS (Total references cited.)			
	March 2018		19		29			
7.	DOCUMENT CATEGORY (e.g., Scientific Report, Contract Report, Scientific Letter.)							
	Reference Document	Reference Document						
8.	SPONSORING CENTRE (The name and address of the department pro	oject office or la	borato	ry sponsoring the re	esearch and development.)			
	DRDC – Toronto Research Centre Defence Research and Development Canada 1133 Sheppard Avenue West P.O. Box 2000 Toronto, Ontario M3M 3B9 Canada							
9a.	PROJECT OR GRANT NO. (If appropriate, the applicable research and development project or grant number under which the document was written. Please specify whether project or grant.) 03aa		CONTRACT NO. (If appropriate, the applicable number under which the document was written.)					
	0388							
10a.	DRDC PUBLICATION NUMBER (The official document number by which the document is identified by the originating activity. This number must be unique to this document.)		b. OTHER DOCUMENT NO(s). (Any other numbers which may be assigned this document either by the originator or by the sponsor.)					
	DRDC-RDDC-2018-D016							
11a.	<ul> <li>1a. FUTURE DISTRIBUTION WITHIN CANADA (Approval for further dissemination of the document. Security classification must also be considered.)</li> <li>Public release</li> </ul>							
11b.	11b. FUTURE DISTRIBUTION OUTSIDE CANADA (Any limitations on further dissemination of the document, other than those imposed by security classification.)							

12. ABSTRACT (A brief and factual summary of the document. It may also appear elsewhere in the body of the document itself. It is highly desirable that the abstract of classified documents be unclassified. Each paragraph of the abstract shall begin with an indication of the security classification of the information in the paragraph (unless the document itself is unclassified) represented as (S), (C), (R), or (U). It is not necessary to include here abstracts in both official languages unless the text is bilingual.)

Griffon Helicopter aircrew neck trouble, at a minimum, is distracting and may deteriorate flying task performance and ultimately lead to permanent grounding. To this end, Defence Research and Development Canada (DRDC) and the Canadian Forces Environmental Medicine Establishment (CFEME) have been actively engaged in proposing and assessing solutions to the neck pain problem. One such proposed solution includes adoption of a 'Professional Athlete' mentality involving both education and exercise. A review of the literature is used to assess the efficacy of education in mitigating neck pain. This analysis found that education alone has shown little to no effect in preventing neck pain or injury. Exercise or manual therapy showed slightly superior results, while the use of a combination of both education and exercise/manual therapy as the most effective way to manage the neck pain problem is clearly evident. Given this to be the case, curricula have been identified that, in combination with a practicum and/or training, promise to be effective in reducing aircrew neck trouble.

\_\_\_\_\_

Les troubles cervicaux chez les membres d'équipage des hélicoptères Griffon sont, à tout le moins, une source de distraction et nuisent à l'exécution de leurs tâches en vol, mais ils peuvent, au bout du compte, les contraindre à une interdiction de vol. À cet égard, Recherche et développement pour la défense Canada (RDDC) et le Centre de médecine environnementale des Forces canadiennes (CMEFC) se sont activement engagés à proposer et à évaluer des solutions au problème de douleur cervicale. L'une de ces solutions proposées comprend l'adoption d'une mentalité « d'athlète professionnel » conjuguant l'éducation et l'exercice. Une revue de la littérature a été réalisée pour évaluer l'efficacité de l'éducation dans l'atténuation des douleurs cervicales. Cette analyse a révélé que l'éducation, utilisée seule, a peu d'effet, voire aucun effet sur la prévention de la douleur ou des blessures cervicales. L'exercice ou la massothérapie ont affiché des résultats légèrement supérieurs, alors que la combinaison de l'éducation et de l'exercice et/ou de la massothérapie s'est clairement avérée la solution la plus efficace pour prendre en charge les douleurs cervicales. Si tel est le cas, les programmes d'études combinés à un stage ou à une instruction promettent d'être efficaces pour réduire l'incidence des troubles cervicaux chez les membres d'équipage.

13. KEYWORDS, DESCRIPTORS or IDENTIFIERS (Technically meaningful terms or short phrases that characterize a document and could be helpful in cataloguing the document. They should be selected so that no security classification is required. Identifiers, such as equipment model designation, trade name, military project code name, geographic location may also be included. If possible keywords should be selected from a published thesaurus, e.g., Thesaurus of Engineering and Scientific Terms (TEST) and that thesaurus identified. If it is not possible to select indexing terms which are Unclassified, the classification of each should be indicated as with the title.)

Muscle Activation; Neck Load; neck pain; tbody-borne equipment; helmet systems; Night Vision Goggles; Head Up Displays; Counter Weights